
AGENDA 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION 

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor
Monday, April 17, 2023 

5:00 P.M. 

Page 1 of 1 

1. Call to Order
2. Roll Call
3. Invocation and Pledge
4. Announcements
5. Approval of the Agenda
6. Public Input
7. Consent Agenda

a. Approve Minutes
• Regular Meeting and Work Session held March 20, 2023
• Executive Session held March 20, 2023

b. Approve Resolution #R2023-02 Publix Opioid Settlement
c. Approve Memorandum of Understanding Concerning National Opioid Settlements
d. Approve Resolution #R2023-03 City of Ethics Recertification
e. Approve GMA Annual Convention and Training

8. Employee Recognition
9. Proclamation: Administrative Professional’s Day, April 26, 2023 

BUSINESS 
10. ZA-C2300085:  Kevin Lalani has petitioned a zoning amendment for TMP D03 056, Located at 514

Academy Ave from CBD (Central Business District) to TB (Town Business District).  Public Hearing
Dates:  Planning Commission on March 13, 2023, and City Council on March 20, 2023.  City Council
for a decision on April 17, 2023.

11. CU-0322018: Request for Extension of Expired Conditional Use Permit
12. Award Comprehensive Downtown Strategic Plan
13. Consideration of Vape License Approval

WORK SESSION 
14. Present Proposed Changes to the Utilities Ordinance
15. Present Proposed Changes to the Animal Control Ordinance
16. Review Community Service Program
17. Present Downtown Development Authority Funding Request for FY 2024 Budget

STAFF REPORTS 
18. Bob Bolz, City Manager 

19. Robin Gazaway, Finance Administrator 

  EXECUTIVE SESSION, IF NEEDED   
  ADJOURNMENT 

The next scheduled City Council meeting is Monday, May 1, 2023 

Those persons with disabilities who require reasonable accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or 
participate in this meeting or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting, should contact the Clerk at 
Dawsonville City Hall at 706-265-3256 at least two (2) business days prior to the meeting. 



      

  SUBJECT:       CONSENT AGENDA         

     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE: 04/17/2023 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 

CONSIDERATION AND APPROVAL OF ITEMS BELOW; SEE ATTACHED 
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS  

a. Approve Minutes
• Regular Meeting and Work Session held March 20, 2023
• Executive Session held March 20, 2023

b. Approve Resolution #R2023-02 Publix Opioid Settlement
c. Approve Memorandum of Understanding Concerning National Opioid

Settlements
d. Approve Resolution #R2023-03 City of Ethics Recertification
e. Approve GMA Annual Convention and Training

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR 

AGENDA ITEM #       7 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:                       APPROVE MINUTES    

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  04/17/2023   
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #  NA      

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 
     TO APPROVE THE MINUTES FROM: 

 
• REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION HELD MARCH 20, 2023 
• EXECUTIVE SESSION HELD MARCH 20, 2023 

 
 
 

 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

 
 
     
 
 

     OPTIONS: 
           
  AMEND OR APPROVE AS PRESENTED 
 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
     REQUESTED BY:  Beverly Banister, City Clerk    

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

 AGENDA ITEM #   7a      
 

 

 



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION 

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, March 20, 2023 

5:00 P.M. 
   

Page 1 of 3 
 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Eason called the meeting to order at 5:00 pm. 
 

2. ROLL CALL: Present were Councilmember John Walden, Councilmember Caleb Phillips, 
Councilmember William Illg, City Attorney Kevin Tallant, City Manager Bob Bolz, City Clerk Beverly 
Banister, Public Works Director Trampas Hansard, Utility Director Jacob Barr, Finance Administrator 
Robin Gazaway, Director of Downtown Development Amanda Edmondson.  Stacy Harris and Clay 
Moss were also present from the Planning & Zoning Department.  

 

Councilmember French was not present at the meeting. 
 

3. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE:  Invocation and pledge were led by Councilmember Illg.   
 

4. ANNOUNCEMENTS:  Mayor Eason announced the first Food Truck Friday will take place on May 5, 
2023 at the Farmer’s Market Pavilion and the Amicalola Regional Farmer’s Market will have their 
opening day on April 29th starting at 8:00 a.m.    

5. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA:  Motion to amend the agenda by adding item #18 Consideration of 
Fee Waiver for ZA-C2300078 and VAR-C2300077 made by C. Phillips; second by W. Illg.  Vote 
carried unanimously in favor.  Motion to approve the agenda as amended made by W. Illg; second by 
J. Walden.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.   
 

6. PUBLIC INPUT:  None 
 

7. CONSENT AGENDA:  Motion to approve the consent agenda for the following items (a - b) made by 
J. Walden; second by W. Illg.  Vote carried unanimously in favor. 

a. Approve Minutes  
• Regular Meeting held March 6, 2023 
• Executive Session held March 6, 2023 

b. Approve Amended SAFEbuilt Contract 
 

8. EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION:  The Mayor and Council welcomed Hunter Simmons as the City’s 
newest employee; Stacy Harris was recognized for earning the GACE Level One Code Enforcement 
certificate; Tony Seabolt received a two-year service award and the February 2023 Employee of the 
Month Award. 
 

9. PROCLAMATION: EMPLOYEE APPRECIATION MONTH:  Mayor Eason read the proclamation and 
thanked the City’s employees for their commitment and hard work.  

 

BUSINESS 
 

10. ZA-C2300078:  Sherry Phillips has petitioned a zoning amendment for TMP D02 013, Located at 129 
Stegall Place from R-2 (Single-Family Residential District) to RMM (Residential 
Manufactured/Moved). Public Hearing Dates: Planning Commission on February 13, 2023 and City 
Council on March 6, 2023. City Council for a decision on March 20, 2023. 
 

Stacy Harris read the zoning amendment request.   
 

Motion to approve ZA-C2300078 as presented made by C. Phillips; second by W. Illg.  Vote carried 
unanimously in favor.   

 

PUBLIC HEARING 
 

11. VAR-C2300077:  Sherry Phillips has requested a variance for mobile home placement on less than 
the required 3-acre minimal lot size for TMP D02 013, Located at 129 Stegall Place.  Public Hearing 
Date:  Planning Commission on February 13, 2023, and City Council on March 20, 2023.  City Council 
for a decision on March 20, 2023.  
 

Stacy Harris read the variance request.  Motion to open the public hearing made by J. Walden; second 
by C. Phillips.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.  Mayor Eason conducted the public hearing.  The 
following person spoke in favor of the request: 
 



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION 

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, March 20, 2023 

5:00 P.M. 
   

Page 2 of 3 
 

• Sherry Phillips, 129 Stegall Place, Dawsonville – Ms. Phillips stated she is asking the Council 
to consider her request to place a mobile home on less than the required acreage.  She had 
moved away to take care of her mother and is ready to return to Dawsonville; she wants to 
replace the existing dilapidated mobile home with a new one.  

 

No one spoke in opposition to the request.  Motion to close the public hearing made by W. Illg; second 
by J. Walden.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.  
 

Motion to approve VAR-C2300077 made by W. Illg; second by C. Phillips.  Vote carried unanimously 
in favor.   

 

12. ZA-C2300085:  Kevin Lalani has petitioned a zoning amendment for TMP D03 056, Located at 514 
Academy Ave from CBD (Central Business District) to TB (Town Business District).  Public Hearing 
Dates:  Planning Commission on March 13, 2023, and City Council on March 20, 2023.  City Council 
for a decision on April 17, 2023. 
 

Stacy Harris read the zoning amendment request. Motion to open a public hearing made by W. Illg; 
second by C. Phillips.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.  Mayor Eason conducted the public hearing.  
No one spoke in favor of or opposition to the request.  Motion to close the public hearing made by C. 
Phillips; second by W. Illg.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.     

 

WORK SESSION 
 

13. IMPACT FEE STUDY PRESENTATION:  Adam Hazell from the Georgia Mountain Regional 
Commission (GMRC) provided an overview of the impact fee study the GMRC developed for 
consideration of implementing impact fees in the City.  Mayor Eason thanked Adam for the work done 
in preparing the study and stated the City Council would consider developing the committee as 
required at the next City Council meeting and should the City approve adopting impact fees the 
Council will direct the City Attorney to develop the ordinance.   
 

14. GEORGIA ONE FUND GRANT FOR DAWSONVILLE HISTORY MUSEUM:  Mayor Eason reported 
that Senator Gooch worked with the Governor’s office regarding a grant for the Dawsonville History 
Museum. They anticipate receiving additional information in the near future and the City will be 
required to administer the grant; a contract will need to be developed and approved for the joint 
venture.  
 

15. DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT UPDATE:  Director Edmondson provided an overview of the recent 
projects in development for promotion of the downtown.  These included the development of 
downtown branding, a DDA advertising campaign utilizing pamphlets and billboard advertising with 
business participation and contributions, the development of a downtown website, banners to be 
placed throughout Main Street Park and downtown light fixtures, the development of business 
welcome packets and various other project management.   

 

STAFF REPORTS 
 

16. BOB BOLZ, CITY MANAGER:  City Manager Bolz stated his report was provided in the packet for 
the Council’s review.  He also mentioned the City has held two successful Comprehensive Plan 
steering committee meetings and the third one is scheduled for April 13, 2023 at 5:30 pm and lastly, 
the water leak adjustment total for the month was $419.02.  Mayor Eason pointed out that Kristy 
Moore from the Dawson County High School who is in the audience has been working with City 
Manager Bolz regarding the work based learning program.   

 

17. ROBIN GAZAWAY, FINANCE ADMINISTRATOR:  Finance Administrator Gazaway presented the 
financial reports representing fund balances and activity through February 28, 2023.   

 
 
 
 
 



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION 

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, March 20, 2023 

5:00 P.M. 
   

Page 3 of 3 
 

ADDITIONAL BUSINESS 
 

18. CONSIDERATION OF FEE WAIVER FOR ZA-C2300078 AND VAR-C2300077: Motion to waive the 
application fees for ZA-C2300078 and VAR-C2300077 in the amount of $781.28 made by C. Phillips; 
second by W. Illg. Vote carried unanimously in favor.          

    EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 

At 5:44 p.m. a motion to close regular session and go into executive session for real estate and 
potential/pending litigation was made by J. Walden; second by W. Illg.  Vote carried unanimously in 
favor.  
 

At 6:27 p.m. a motion to close executive session was made by C. Phillips; second by W. Illg.  Vote 
carried unanimously in favor. 
 

Motion to resume regular session was made by J. Walden; second by C. Phillips.  Vote carried 
unanimously in favor.   

   
    ADJOURNMENT: 

 

At 6:31 p.m. a motion to adjourn the meeting was made by J. Walden; second by W. Illg.  Vote carried 
unanimously in favor. 

 

 
 

 Approved this 17th day of April 2023 
 
 
By: CITY OF DAWSONVILLE 

         
   ___________________________________ 
   Mike Eason, Mayor 
 
   ___________________________________  
   Caleb Phillips, Councilmember Post 1 

 
         
   William Illg, Councilmember Post 2  

 
         
   John Walden, Councilmember Post 3 
 
   ___________________________________ 
   Mark French, Councilmember Post 4 
 
 
 
 
Attest: _________________________        
           Beverly A. Banister, City Clerk 
 
 
 
  





                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   APPROVE RESOLUTION #R2023-02 PUBLIX OPIOID SETTLEMENT 

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  04/17/2022    
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

    TO REQUEST APPROVAL OF RESOLUTION #R2023-02 CONCERNING THE PUBLIX OPIOID 
SETTLEMENT  

    
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

     
   
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
   
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Kevin Tallant, City Attorney ______ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   7b     
 

 

 



 

RESOLUTION R2023-02 
RESOLUTION OF CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA (“CITY”) 
AGREEING TO SETTLE WITH PUBLIX SUPER MARKETS, INC. 
 CONCERNING THE PRESCRIPTION OPIOID LITIGATION 

 
WHEREAS, the City initiated litigation against certain manufacturers, distributors, and 

pharmacy chains in In re: National Prescription Opiate Litigation, MDL 2804, to hold them 
accountable for the opioid epidemic and to seek equitable and monetary relief; 

 
WHEREAS, defendant Publix Super Markets, Inc. (“Publix”) has separately reached a 

settlement  framework with certain local government entities; 
 

WHEREAS, certain Georgia local government entities seek to resolve the litigation with 
Publix and maximize the recovery from this settlement; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City desires to agree to settle with Publix; 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY OF DAWSONVILLE  

COUNCIL, AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1.  The City Council, as the governing body of the City, hereby agrees to settle 
with PUBLIX and to be bound by the Release and  

 
Section 2.  The City Council hereby appoints ______________________________ as the 

duly appointed representative of the City for the purposes of agreeing to be bound by the settlement 
agreement. 

Section 3.  The City Council directs the duly appointed representative  of the City to execute 
the settlement agreement with Publix upon such terms approved by the _____________ with the 
advice of the City Attorney. 

 

Section 4.  If any section, paragraph or provision of this Resolution shall be held to be invalid 
or unenforceable for any reason, the invalidity or unenforceability of such section, paragraph or 
provision shall not affect any of the remaining provisions of this Resolution. 

Section 5.  This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its adoption as 
provided by law. 

This Resolution was introduced, seconded and adopted at a duly convened meeting of the 
City Council, held on April ___, 2023. 

 
 

Mike Eason, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Beverly A. Banister, City Clerk 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   APPROVE MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING CONCERNING NATIONAL 

OPIOID SETTLEMENTS 
 

     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  04/17/2022    
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

    TO REQUEST APPROVAL OF MOU CONCERNING NATIONAL OPIOID SETTLEMENTS 
    
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

     
   
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
   
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Kevin Tallant, City Attorney ______ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   7c     
 

 

 



Settlement Document 

Binding on State of Georgia When Executed by Georgia AG / Governor  
 
 

1 

State of Georgia and Local Governments: Memorandum of Understanding 

Concerning National Settlements with Teva Pharmaceutical Industries Ltd., 

Allergan Finance, LLC, Walmart Inc., CVS Health Corporation and CVS 

Pharmacy, Inc., and Walgreen Co. 

Foreword 

This Memorandum of Understanding between the State of Georgia ex rel. 

Chris Carr, Attorney General (the “State”), and certain Georgia Local Government 

entities (“LGs”) concerns the harms visited upon Georgia’s citizens and the State 

itself by certain manufacturers, distributors, and pharmacies (“Opioid Defendants”) 

of prescription opioids. 

To address these harms, the State and certain LGs separately initiated 

litigation meant to hold the Opioid Defendants accountable. 

On December 31, 2021, the State entered into settlements with Opioid 

Defendants McKesson Corporation, AmerisourceBergen Corporation, Cardinal 

Health, Inc., Johnson & Johnson, Janssen Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Ortho-McNeil-

Janssen Pharmaceuticals, Inc., and Janssen Pharmaceutica, Inc. (together, the 

“National Distributor and J&J Settlements”). 

Thereafter, the State and participating LGs entered into a Memorandum of 

Understanding to memorialize an agreement that would enable them to maximize 

the monetary help received from the National Distributor and J&J Settlements to 

address harms visisted upon Georgia’s citizens and the State itself in the opioid crisis 

(the “2022 MOU”). 

During November and December of 2022, Teva Pharmaceutical Industries 

Ltd. (“Teva”), Allergan Finance, LLC (“Allergan”), Walmart Inc. (“Walmart”), 

CVS Health Corporation and CVS Pharmacy, Inc. (“CVS”), and Walgreen Co. 

(“Walgreens”), respectively, agreed to national settlement frameworks (collectively, 

“Opioid Settlements”) that the State of Georgia and LGs are eligible to join.  

During December, 2022, the State entered into each of the Opioid Settlements. 

The LGs have until April 18, 2023 to opt in to the respective Opioid Settlements. 

This Memorandum of Understanding (“Memorandum” or “2023 MOU”) aims 

to memorialize an agreement between the State and certain LGs that will enable 

them to maximize the monetary funds received from the Opioid Settlements to 



Settlement Document 

Binding on State of Georgia When Executed by Georgia AG / Governor  
 
 

2 

remediate the harms caused by the opioid crisis.  The processes outlined in this 

Memorandum in large part replicate processes required under the 2022 MOU.  

Except where the terms are different, the processes used in administration of the 

2022 MOU shall be utilized for administration as required under this Memorandum. 

I. Definitions 

 

Capitalized terms shall have the same definitions as in the 2022 MOU with 

the exception of:  

 

a. “Legislative Bar” means O.C.G.A. § 10-13B-1 et seq. 

 

b. “Local Government Opioid Funds” means the funds allocated to local 

governments pursuant to Section II of this Memorandum. 

 

c. “Opioid Funds” means the total monetary amounts obtained through 

the Opioid Settlements as defined in this 2023 MOU which are 

allocated to Georgia and its Participating Local Governments under the 

Opioid Settlements.  

 

d. “Opioid Settlement(s)” means the National Teva, Allergan, Walmart, 

CVS and Walgreens Settlements, dated November 22, 2022, November 

22, 2022, November 14, 2022, December 9, 2022, and December 9, 

2022, respectively. 

 

e. “Parties” shall mean the State and the Participating Local Governments. 

 

f. “Participating Local Governments” shall mean:  

(i.) all litigating subdivisions listed on Exhibit “C” of 

the National Teva, Allergan, Walmart, CVS and 

Walgreens Settlements, and  

(ii.) nonlitigating subdivisions listed on Exhibit “G” of 

the National Teva, Allergan, Walmart, CVS and 

Walgreens Settlements  

that choose to sign on to the Opioid Settlements and this 

Memorandum.  

 



Settlement Document 

Binding on State of Georgia When Executed by Georgia AG / Governor  
 
 

3 

g. “Released Entities” means the entities defined as such in each 

respective Opioid Settlement.  

 

h. “State Opioid Funds” means the funds allocated to the State pursuant 

to Section II of this Memorandum. 

 

i. “Trust” means the Georgia Opioid Crisis Abatement Trust, approved 

by the Gwinnett County Superior Court on February 16, 2023. 

 

j. “Trustee” means the Trustee of the Georgia Opioid Crisis Abatement 

Trust.  

II. Allocation between State and Local Governments 

a. The Participating Local Governments shall collectively receive 25% of 

the Opioid Funds as their full allocation of Local Government Opioid 

Funds for all claims past and future of the Participating Local 

Governments.  Local Government Opioid Funds shall be paid to a 

national Settlement Administrator(s) as defined in each respective 

Opioid Settlement and distributed pursuant to each respective Opioid 

Settlement, with the following additional conditions: 

 

(i) If a county which is a Participating Local Government under this 

Memorandum has a sheriff who is a Litigating Subdivision listed 

in an Opioid Settlement, at least 9.45% of the Opioid Funds paid 

to that county under the terms of any Opioid Settlement as to 

which the sheriff agreed to participate shall be allocated to that 

county’s sheriff to be used for Approved Purposes;  

 

(ii.) If a county which is a Participating Local Government under this 

Memorandum has a hospital which is a Litigating Subdivision 

listed in an Opioid Settlement, at least 2% of the Opioid Funds 

paid to that county under the terms of any Opioid Settlement as 

to which the hospital agreed to participate shall be allocated to 

the hospital to be used for Approved Purposes; and 

 

(iii.) If a county which is a Participating Local Government under this 

Memorandum has a school district which is a Litigating 

Subdivision listed in an Opioid Settlement, at least 1% of the 



Settlement Document 

Binding on State of Georgia When Executed by Georgia AG / Governor  
 
 

4 

Opioid Funds paid to that county under the terms of any Opioid 

Settlement as to which the school district agreed to participate 

shall be allocated to the school district to be used for Approved 

Purposes. 

 

b. The State shall receive 75% of the Opioid Funds as its full allocation of 

State Opioid Funds.  

 

c. Of the State’s 75% share, after the payment of litigation fees and costs 

owed to the State’s outside counsel pursuant to the agreement entered 

into on September 10, 2018 or as may be amended, 60% of the 

remaining funds shall be transferred by the receiving state agency 

through the Office of Planning and Budget to the State Treasury and 

spent at the direction of the State Legislature for Approved Purposes by 

appropriation and in compliance with the terms of the Opioid 

Settlements and this Memorandum.  The remaining 40% after payment 

of fees and costs shall be transferred to the Trust by the receiving state 

agency and shall be expended by the Trustee on a regional basis 

(“Regional Distribution”) as set forth in the Declaration of Trust, the 

2022 MOU and this 2023 MOU.  

 

(i.) For purposes of the Regional Distribution under the Opioid 

Settlements, the Regions shall be the same as established 

pursuant to the 2022 MOU, including Qualifying Block 

Grantees. 

 

(ii.) Each Qualifying Block Grantee shall receive its allocation of the 

Regional Disribution via a direct block grant so long as it 

certifies that it has sufficient infrastructure to provide opioid 

abatement services. 

 

(iii.) The Trustee shall use the same allocation model as used under 

the 2022 MOU for the Regional Distribution. 

 

(iv.) The Regional Advisory Councils established pursuant to the 

2022 MOU shall have the same duties and responsibilities in 

connection with the funds allocated to the Trust pursuant to this 

2023 MOU as under the 2022 MOU, including reporting 



Settlement Document 

Binding on State of Georgia When Executed by Georgia AG / Governor  
 
 

5 

requirements and making themselves available to consult with 

the Government Participation Mechanism and with Participating 

Local Governments to best determine how funds will be spent 

for opioid remediation within the established Regions.  In every 

instance the Trustee shall retain final authority over Regional 

Distributions. 

III. Funds to be used for Approved Purposes; Clawback and Recoupment 

a. With the exception of administrative expenses as allowed under the 

Opioid Settlements, funds set aside for attorneys’ fees and costs for 

State of Georgia outside counsel, and funds set aside for attorneys’ fees 

for Local Government outside counsel pursuant to Section VI of this 

Memorandum, State Opioid Funds and Local Government Opioid 

Funds shall be used for Approved Purposes. 

 

b. Funds are to primarily (no less than 70 percent) be used for future 

abatement purposes.  Funds used to reimburse the Parties for past 

abatement expenses may not be used to reimburse past Medicaid 

expenses or any other expense that would be subject to a federal 

clawback, recoupment, or similar mechanism. 

 

c. The State and Participating Local Governments shall work 

cooperatively to ensure the funds are spent within the spirit of this 

Memorandum and the Opioid Settlements, and shall further work 

cooperatively to actively defend the funds from federal clawback 

and/or recoupment, including, but not limited to, actively participating 

in any administrative procedure or other case or process related to 

defense of the funds from federal clawback and/or recoupment.  In the 

event the federal government initiates and successfully claws back any 

Opioid Funds related to the Settlements, such amounts shall first be 

deducted from the total disbursements to be made to both the State and 

Local Governments in the calendar year the clawback claim is 

successfully made and shall thereafter be deducted from the total 

disbursements to be made in any subsequent calendar year if necessary.  

After such deduction, the allocation between the State and Participating 

Local Governments described in Section II of this Memorandum shall 

be applied to the remaining funds for the current calendar year or any 

subsequent calendar year if applicable.  Deduction of amounts from the 



Settlement Document 

Binding on State of Georgia When Executed by Georgia AG / Governor  
 
 

6 

total disbursements shall include reimbursement of any amounts paid 

by the State or withheld from amounts due to the State as the result of 

a clawback and/or recoupment. 

 

IV. Compliance and Reporting 

 

a. The Trustee shall provide an up-to-date accounting of payments into or 

out of the Trust and/or its subaccounts upon written request of the State 

or a Participating Local Government.  The State, together with the 

Trustee, shall provide an annual report detailing: (1) the amounts 

received by the State and deposited into the State Treasury and the 

amounts remitted to the Trust; (2) the allocation of any awards 

approved, listing the recipient, amount awarded, programs funded, and 

disbursement terms; and (3) the amounts actually disbursed.  The State 

and Trustee shall also include an assessment of how well resources have 

been used by the State and the Participating Local Governments to 

abate opioid addiction, overdose deaths, and the other consequences of 

the opioid crisis.  The State shall publish its annual report and all 

Regional Advisory Council annual reports on its website. 

 

b. Expenses of the Trustee shall be deducted first from interest earned on 

funds held by the Georgia Opioid Crisis Abatement Trust, and then, if 

necessary, may be deducted from the corpus of Trust funds.  

Administrative expenses of the State shall be paid from or reimbursed 

out of State Opioid Funds as allowed under the terms of the Opioid 

Settlements. 

 

c. The Trustee and the State shall endeavor to keep such expenses 

reasonable in order to maximize the funding available for opioid 

abatement.  

 

d. Each Regional Advisory Council shall provide a report annually to the 

Trustee and Government Participation Mechanism detailing: (1) the 

amount received by each local government within the Region; (2) the 

allocation of any awards approved, listing the recipient, amount 

awarded, programs funded, and disbursement terms; and (3) the 

amounts actually disbursed and approved allocations.  Each 

Participating Local Government within each Region shall provide any 



Settlement Document 

Binding on State of Georgia When Executed by Georgia AG / Governor  
 
 

7 

information necessary to facilitate such reporting to a single regional 

delegate selected by the Region to provide its annual report.  

 

e. If the State believes that any Participating Local Government has used 

funds for a non-approved purpose, it may request in writing the 

documentation underlying such alleged improper use of funds.  If any 

ten (10) Participating Local Governments believe the State has used 

funds for a non-approved purpose, they may request jointly in writing 

the documentation underlying such alleged improper use of funds. 

 

f. The State and Participating Local Governments may object in writing 

to the Trustee to an allocation or expenditure on the basis that the 

allocation or Trust expenditure is inconsistent with Section III of this 

Memorandum or violates Section IV.c of this Memorandum regarding 

reasonable expenses of the Trustee. 

 

g. Any party to this Memorandum who receives a written request sent 

pursuant to IV.f or IV.e shall have 21 days to respond to such request, 

which may be extended by mutual consent. 

 

h. A party who makes a written request pursuant to IV.f may file an action 

in the Superior Court of Gwinnett County within one year of its 

objection seeking a determination as to the validity of the objection. 

 

i. If, after a written objection made pursuant to IV.e, it appears to the State 

that a Participating Local Government has spent funds on non-approved 

purposes, the State may seek and obtain an injunction in the Superior 

Court of Gwinnett County prohibiting the Participating Local 

Government from spending further funds on non-approved purposes, 

and ordering the return of monies spent on non-approved purposes.  So 

long as any such action is pending, distribution of any funds to the 

relevant Participating Local Government shall be suspended and held 

in trust by the Trustee or national Settlement Administrator(s) and shall 

only resume after the action is resolved.  Once the action is resolved, 

suspended payments to the Participating Local Government shall 

resume, less any amounts ordered returned that have not yet been 

returned as of the date of the resumption of suspended payments.  

 



Settlement Document 

Binding on State of Georgia When Executed by Georgia AG / Governor  
 
 

8 

j. Attorney’s fees and costs are not recoverable in actions brought under 

this Section. 

 

V. Litigation Bar 

 

a. All Parties expressly acknowledge that this 2023 MOU qualifies under 

O.C.G.A. § 10-13B-2(a)(4)(E) and that each of the Opioid Settlements 

is a state-wide opioid settlement as that term is defined in O.C.G.A.  

§ 10-13B-2(4). 

 

VI. Attorney’s Fees; Costs and Expenses 

 

a. Section VII of the 2022 MOU is incorporated by reference as though 

fully set forth herein. 

 

VII. Future Agreements and Negotiations 

 

a. Nothing in this Memorandum shall bind the Parties concerning any 

future opioid settlements other than the ones expressly contemplated in 

(1) this Memorandum or (2) any amendments to this Memorandum 

made pursuant to Section VIII.b.  Other than those Released Entities 

who are parties to the Opioid Settlements, the Parties are free to engage 

in settlement negotiations with any Opioid Defendants without prior 

consent or participation of any other party to this Memorandum.  

 

b. The Parties shall endeavor, insofar as is reasonably practicable, to keep 

each other apprised of future negotiations concerning future opioid 

settlements.  Nothing in this provision shall require the parties to violate 

any duty, obligation, or promise of confidentiality, non-disclosure 

agreement, common interest agreement, court order concerning non-

disclosure, or similar non-disclosure obligation concerning 

negotiations regarding future opioid settlements.  For the avoidance of 

doubt, LGs shall not be required to disclose, among other things, any 

information relating to negotiations between groups of local 

governments and Opioid Defendants, and the State shall not be required 

to disclose, among other things, any information relating to 

negotiations between states or groups of states and Opioid Defendants. 

 



Settlement Document 

Binding on State of Georgia When Executed by Georgia AG / Governor  
 
 

9 

VIII. Miscellaneous  

 

a. This Memorandum shall be governed by Georgia law. 

 

b. The Parties may make amendments to this Memorandum as necessary.  

Amendments shall be in writing and shall require the consent of all 

Parties to this Memorandum.  Proposed amendments shall be circulated 

to all Parties through designated contacts provided in their 

Acknowledgement, after which Parties shall have 30 days to agree or 

object to the proposed amendment.  Parties who do not respond shall 

be deemed to have consented to the amendment for purposes of this 

Section VIII.b.   

 

c. Jurisdiction and venue regarding any disputes between or among the 

Parties concerning this Memorandum or the interpretation thereof shall 

lie in the Superior Court of Gwinnett County, Georgia.  

 

d. This Memorandum terminates automatically with respect to any Opioid 

Settlement in the event such Opioid Settlement(s) is(are) terminated by 

the parties to them. 

 

e. By entering into this Memorandum, a local government agrees to 

participate in each of the five Opioid Settlements, provided, however, 

an LG that has bellwether claims as described in O.C.G.A. § 10-13B-

3(b) may choose to participate only in Opioid Settlments against non-

bellwether defendants.1   

 

f. If less than 65% of the litigating LGs participate in the Opioid 

Settlements, this Memorandum is voidable by the State.  

 

*  *  *  *  * 

  

 
1 In the event an LG elects to participate in the Memorandum and in Opioid Settlement(s) against non-bellwether 

defendants as permitted under this Section VIII.e, the Memorandum shall apply to that LG only as to the Opioid 

Settlement(s) in which it is participating. 



Settlement Document 

Binding on State of Georgia When Executed by Georgia AG / Governor  
 
 

10 

ATTACHED EXHIBITS: 

EXHIBIT 1:   ACKNOWLEDGEMENT AND AGREEMENT TO BE 

BOUND TO MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING



Settlement Document 

Binding on State of Georgia When Executed by Georgia AG / Governor  
 
 

11 

EXHIBIT 1 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT AND AGREEMENT  

TO BE BOUND BY MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

 

WHEREFORE, the undersigned, as a duly-appointed representative of the below-

referenced entity, acknowledges the following:  

• ______________________ [NAME OF ENTITY] has received the State of 

Georgia and Local Governments: Memorandum of Understanding Concerning 

National Settlements with Teva Pharmaceutical Industries Ltd., Allergan 

Finance, LLC, Walmart Inc., CVS Health Corporation and CVS Pharmacy, 

Inc., and Walgreen Co. 

• The undersigned is a duly-appointed representative of ____________________ 

[NAME OF ENTITY], and has the authority to execute this document and bind 

__________________ [NAME OF ENTITY] to the Memorandum.  

• ______________________[NAME OF ENTITY] is either represented by legal 

counsel, or has the ability to obtain advice from legal counsel, concerning the contents 

and implication of the Memorandum.  

• The undersigned, on behalf of _____________________ [NAME OF 

ENTITY], understands and acknowledges the terms of the Memorandum, and 

_______________________ [NAME OF ENTITY] agrees to be bound by its terms.  

• No party is under duress or undue influence. 

/s/____________________________ 

Name:_________________________ 

Title:__________________________ 

Date:__________________________ 

Entity:_________________________ 

 

Designated Contact for Purposes of Section VIII.b: 

Name:________________________ 

Title:_________________________ 

Address:______________________ 

Email:________________________ 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   APPROVE RESOLUTION #R2023-03 CITY OF ETHICS RECERTIFICATION 

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  04/17/2022    
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

    TO REQUEST APPROVAL FOR RESOLUTION #R2023-03 TO RECERTIFY THE CITY AS A CITY 
OF ETHICS THROUGH GMA 

    
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

    CITY HAS PARTICIPATED IN THE CITY OF ETHICS PROGRAM WITH GMA SINCE INDUCTION.  
RECERTIFICATION IS REQUIRED EVERY FOUR YEARS. 

   
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
   
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Beverly A. Banister, City Clerk ______ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   7d     
 

 

 



 
RESOLUTION #R2023-03 

 

ETHICS RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF DAWSONVILLE 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Georgia Municipal Association has 
established a Certified City of Ethics program; and, 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Dawsonville is an existing Certified City of Ethics and wishes to 
be recertified as a Certified City of Ethics under the GMA Program; and, 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Dawsonville has had an Ethics Ordinance in place since 2000 
and most recently amended in 2019 and the same being codified at Sections 2-75 through 2-86 
of Chapter II, Article III, Division 2 of the Code of the City of Dawsonville, Georgia ; and,  
 

WHEREAS part of the recertification process requires the Mayor and Council to 
subscribe to the ethics principles approved by the GMA Board; 
 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the governing authority of the City of 
Dawsonville, Georgia, that as a group and as individuals, the governing authority subscribes to 
the following ethics principles and pledges to conduct its affairs accordingly: 
 

* Serve Others, Not Ourselves 
* Use Resources With Efficiency and Economy 
* Treat All People Fairly 
* Use The Power of Our Position For The Well Being Of Our Constituents 
* Create An Environment Of Honesty, Openness And Integrity 

 

RESOLVED this _____ day of April 2023. 
 

By: MAYOR AND DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
 
 

        
       Mike Eason, Mayor 
 
 

       
Caleb Phillips, Councilmember Post 1 

 
               
               
       William Illg, Councilmember Post 2 
 
               
               
       John Walden, Councilmember Post 3 
 
 
               
       Mark French, Councilmember Post 4 
Attest: 
 
       
Beverly A. Banister, City Clerk  



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:       APPROVE 2022 GMA ANNUAL CONVENTION AND TRAINING  

   
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  04/17/2023    
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 
 

    TO APPROVE GMA CONVENTION EXPENSES FROM 06/22 – 06/27/2023 FOR COUNCILMEMBER 
WALDEN TO INCLUDE REGISTRATION, TRAINING, LODGING, PER DIEM AND MILEAGE.      

    APPROXIMATE TOTAL IS $4,505 
 

    $1,105 (REGISTRATION AND TRAINING) TO BE PAID OUT OF FY2023 BUDGET; CHARGED ON 
CREDIT CARD TO RESERVE 

 

    BALANCE WILL BE PAID OUT OF FY2024 BUDGET WHEN RECEIVED AFTER CONVENTION; WILL 
NOT BE ACCRUED FOR FY 2023  

 
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

    APPROXIMATE BREAKDOWN      

    CONVENTION/TRAINING $1,105 
    LODGING/PARKING**  $2,278  
    PER DIEM    $   720 (MEAL AND DAILY PER DIEM) 
    MILEAGE    $   402  
     $4,505 
      
    ** Pending reduction of approximately $1000 for lodging cost; GMA is working on receiving 

additional block room rates for hotels.        

     OPTIONS: 
 
    APPROVE, AMEND, DENY OR TABLE 
 
 

       
 

      
REQUESTED BY:  Beverly A. Banister, City Clerk__________________ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   7e     
 

 

 













                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:                                  EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION_____________  

   
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  04/17/2023   
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

TO RECOGNIZE AND PRESENT THE FOLLOWING:  
 

• SERVICE AWARDS FOR APRIL 2023 
• MARCH 2023 EMPLOYEE OF THE MONTH 
• EMPLOYEE OF THE FIRST QUARTER 

    
 
 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 
 

 
 

     OPTIONS: 
      
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
   
 
 

 
 

 
     REQUESTED BY:                 Bob Bolz, City Manager________ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   8    
 

 

 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   PROCLAMATION: ADMINISTRATIVE PROFESSIONAL’S DAY, APRIL 26, 2023 

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  04/17/2023    
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

    TO READ PROCLAMATION FOR ADMINISTRATIVE PROFESSIONAL’S DAY 
    
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

     
   
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
   
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Bob Bolz, City Manager ______ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   9     
 

 

 





                                           
 

 

SUBJECT:   ZA-C2300085    __________ 
 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  04/17/2023         
 

 

BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #_______________________________________ 

 Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget: _____ Capital Budget: Other________  
 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____ Enterprise Fund: _____General Fund 

 

 

PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: APPROVE, DENY OR TABLE  
 
Kevin Lalani has applied for a zoning amendment for TMP D03 056, located at 514 Academy 
Ave. from CBD (Central Business District) to TB (Town Business District).  Public Hearing 
Dates: Planning Commission on March 13, 2023, and City Council on March 20, 2023.  City 
Council for a decision on April 17, 2023. 

HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
• Applicant is requesting to rezone from CBD (Central Business District to TB (Town 

Business District). 
• Property contains an abandoned residential stricture. 
• Applicant is proposing a mixed-use development standalone coffee/eatery shop and 

office spaces. 
• Property falls within the Post 3 Council district. 
• The Planning Commission, during the regular meeting, on March 13, 2023, approved the 

rezoning request without conditions.  
________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

OPTIONS:  
 
 
 

________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 
 

DEPARTMENT:  Planning and Zoning_____________________________________________________ 
 
REQUESTED BY: Stacy Harris                        _______________________________________________ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM # 10 
 



 

Planning and Zoning Department 
415 Highway 53 E. Suite 100 
Dawsonville, Georgia 30534 
 
 

(706) 265-3256 
www.dawsonville-ga.gov 

 
 

STAFF REPORT  
 
 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Council 
 
DATE:  March 14, 2023 
 
FROM:  Stacy Harris, Planning and Zoning 
 
SUBJECT: 514 Academy Ave ZA – C2300085 
 
 
Request: 
Kevin Lalani has applied for a zoning amendment for TMP D03 056, located at 514 Academy Ave. from CBD 
(Central Business District) to TB (Town Business District).  Public Hearing Dates: Planning Commission on 
March 13, 2023, and City Council on March 20, 2023.  City Council for a decision on April 17, 2023. 
 
Background: 
The property is in the Historic District and in Post 3 Council district.  Additionally, the property is adjacent to 
the future Dawsonville Town Center. 
 
Staff Analysis: 
The surrounding properties adjacent to the subject property are zoned Town Business and Central Business 
District.  The property, which has an abandoned residential structure has a lot size of 1.023-acre.   
 
The Planning Commission held a public hearing on March 13, 2023, and approved the zoning amendment for 
the property without conditions.  The request is in line with the current Comprehensive Plan. 
 
Applicant is proposing a mixed-use development standalone coffee/eatery shop and office spaces.  Attached is 
the letter of intent. 
 
 
 

http://www.dawsonville-ga.gov/














                                           
 

 

SUBJECT:                                                  CU-0322018  ___________ 
 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  04/17/2023     
 

 

BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #_______________________________________ 

 Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget: _____ Capital Budget: Other________  
 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____ Enterprise Fund: _____General Fund 

 

 

PURPOSE FOR REQUEST:  
 
SEDGE WREN, LLC IS REQUESTING A 6-MONTH EXTENSION ON THE APPROVED CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT 
TO OCTOBER 23, 2023.   
 
HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
• PROPERTY IS IN POST 1 CITY COUNCIL MEMBER CALEB PHILLIPS DISTRICT.  
• PROPERTY LOCATION: 11 MARIE DRIVE; 10.552 ACRES (VACANT LAND). 
• HIGHWAY BUSINESS ZONING. 
• PROPOSED USE IS MINI-STORAGE FACILITY, CLIMATE-CONTROLLED STORAGE FACILITY, OUTDOOR 

COVERED PARKING SPACES, AND NON-CLIMATE-CONTROLLED STORAGE. 
• CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT APPROVED ON APRIL 23, 2018. 
• CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT EXPIRED ON APRIL 22, 2020. THE APPLICANT HAD 24 MONTHS, FROM 

THE APPROVAL DATE TO ACT ON THE PERMIT.  
• CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT EXTENDED UNTIL APRIL 23, 2023 AT THE 01/12/2023 CITY COUNCIL 

MEETING 
________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

OPTIONS:  
________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 

 
 

DEPARTMENT:  Planning and Zoning_____________________________________________________ 
 
REQUESTED BY: Stacy Harris ___________________________________________________ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM # 11 
 



 

DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING AND ZONING 

 

TO:  Mayor and City Council 

DATE:  April 12, 2023 

FROM:  Stacy Harris, Zoning Administrative Assistant  

RE:  Request for a 6-month extension of the Conditional Use Permit CU-0322018 

  Owner:  Sedge Wren, LLC, Buford 

  Applicant:  Corrie Gutherie, ENSITE Civic Consultants, LLC 

  Address:  11 Marie Drive, Dawsonville TMP:  D01 051 

  Acreage:  10.552 Acres 

  Zoning:  HB (Highway Business) 

Proposed Use: Mini-Storage Facility, Climate-Controlled Storage Facility, Outdoor 

Covered Parking Spaces, and Non-Climate-Controlled Storage 

 

Conditional Use Permit APPROVED on April 23, 2018 

Conditional Use Permit EXPIRED on April 22, 2020 

Conditional Use Permit EXTENDED to April 23, 2023 

 

Issue: 

The Conditional Use Permit was extended until April 23, 2023.   

Request: 

The applicant is requesting to extend the term of the approved Conditional Use Permit to October 23, 2023. 

The request letter dated April 12, 2023, from the applicant is attached herewith. 

Mayor and Council: 

The applicant is requesting consideration to extend the Conditional Use Permit term (#CU-0322018) to 

October 23, 2023.  



 

 

"Engineering Site Solutions" 

Land Planning ~ Civil Design ~ Flood Studies ~ NPDES Inspections ~ Permitting 

4224 Sweetwater Juno Rd  •  Dawsonville, GA  •  30534 

Corey Gutherie, PE • 770-597-8813 • corey.gutherie@ensiteconsulting.com 

E N S I T E  

CIVIL CONSULTING, LLC 

 

April 12, 2023 

Mrs. Stacy Harris 

City of Dawsonville  

Planning & Zoning 

RE: Request for Extension of Expiring Conditional Use Permit 

 SR 53 West – Sedge Wren Tract 

 Case #:   CU – 032018 

 

Dear Mrs. Harris, 

This letter is to formally request another 6-month extension for the Conditional Use Permit (CU-032018) 

currently set to expire on April 23, 2023.  With construction costs skyrocketing over the last 12 months, we 

have been forced to look at alternative solutions for stormwater management in particular, but otherwise 

creative solutions in general to help move this project forward in a feasible and viable way.   

We humbly ask the City to consider another 6-month extension to the Conditional Use Permit to allow the 

opportunity to explore a few other design alternatives to enhance the viability of this project, one that will 

provide upscale storage solutions for the residents of Dawsonville.   

Sincerely, 

 

Corey Gutherie, PE 

Agent for Owner     

 

 
 









                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   AWARD COMPREHENSIVE DOWNTOWN STRATEGIC PLAN  

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  04/17/2023   
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
      

DEPARTMENT RECOMMENDATION FOR DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT COMPREHENSIVE 
STRATEGIC PLAN AWARD TO BE MADE TO THE PLANNING / ARCHITECTURE FIRM TSW. 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

STAFF AND COUNCILMAN ILLG MET WITH THE TOP THREE FIRMS FOR AN IN-PERSON 
PRESENTATION AND INTERVIEW, INCLUDING SOME DISCUSSION TO RE-WORK SCOPE 
ITEMS AND PRICING.  FINAL RECOMMENDATION IS BASED ON RE-SUBMITTED PROPOSAL. 
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
APPROVE OR REQUEST FURTHER INFORMATION. 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
   
N/A 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Amanda Edmondson, Director of Downtown Development___ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM # 12  
 

 

 



 
Comprehensive Downtown Strategic Plan RFP Award Staff Recommendation: 
 
 
 
Final staff recommendation:  TSW 
 
Summary:  The City of Dawsonville received 7 viable proposals in response to the Strategic Plan RFP.  The top three firms 
based on uniform criteria rankings by staff were chosen for an in-person presentation and interview session also 
attended by one council member.  Some discussion of scope/pricing resulted in revised proposals and a clear best choice 
of product available for the price offered. 
 
Merits:  The final revised proposal ranks highest numerically by uniform criteria. 
 
Price:  Revised pricing resulted in all three final proposals at or around $100,000; within the ARC grant total including 
City match.  DRS was the exception at $99,500; however, scope items were adjusted to reduce scope.  TSW lowered 
their price original price and restructured some critical scope items. 
  
References:  All references were positive and favorable and often communities are continuing further work with these 
firms, except for DRS which received one strongly negative review. 
  
Value of Services Offered / Personnel & Experience:  TSW and MKSK received the strongest criteria scores based on 
methodologies offered in their proposals, with TSW staff exceeding others in experience and credentials. 
  
Overall / Distinguishing components of final proposal: 

• TSW offers a primarily Atlanta-based team, offering experience and credentialed professionals directly 
involved at every level. 

• The TSW team has the most experience with comparable projects in terms of scope, and factors involved. 
• The TSW proposal provides a more in-depth product on the technical side, particularly the following key 

scope items: 
o Visual preference surveys. 
o 2 catalyst sites downtown. 
o A more extensive level of master-plan including some typologies, rather than just a conceptual plan. 

  
TSW’s final revised proposal is attached for reference. 
 



PROPOSAL  /  DUE: FEBRUARY 6, 2023

City of Dawsonville
Comprehensive Downtown
Strategic Plan

SUBMITTED BY:
TSW
Primary Contact: Adam Williamson, Principal
1447 Peachtree Street NE, Suite 850
Atlanta, GA 30309
Main: 404.873.6730  
Direct: 470.751.2366
Email: awilliamson@tsw-design.com
Web: www.tsw-design.com



TSW Team  |  City of Dawsonville Comprehensive Downtown Strategic Plan 1

SECTION 1: 

TSW Team Overview
TSW is pleased to submit the following proposal to help the City of Dawsonville develop a Comprehensive 
Downtown Strategic Plan. The TSW Team has been assembled to bring expertise in community 
engagement, placemaking, urban design, land use planning, economics, and transportation strategies. 
The team will be managed by TSW, which will guide land use and zoning, urban design, community 
engagement, transportation, and implementation strategies. Assisting TSW is KB Advisory Group for 
market analysis and feasibility and redevelopment strategies.

TSW
TSW is a full-service planning, architecture, and 
landscape architecture firm of talented professionals 
who work collaboratively to provide our clients with 
extraordinary designs for communities, buildings, and 
greenspaces. We were founded in Atlanta, Georgia, as 
a corporation in 1990. With approximately 40 full-time 
employees in our Atlanta, Georgia, headquarters and 
satellite offices in Tulsa, Oklahoma, and Chattanooga, 
Tennessee, our small office size allows our principals to 
be hands-on in every aspect of a project and enables 
more multidisciplinary collaboration.

For over 30 years, we have been proud to create 
award-winning plans that embody the principles 
of livable communities: walkability, sense of 
place, compelling public spaces, human-scaled 
buildings, and connectivity. We are involved in 
all stages of community planning and design, 
including outreach, visioning, coding, site planning, 
architecture, and streetscape design, and are proud 
to see many of our projects move from concept 
to completion in a range of diverse locations 
throughout the Southeast.

TSW’s personnel includes 40 full-time employees, 
several of whom work in multiple studios. Our 
staff members include: 17 planners (9 with AICP 
accreditation), 7 registered landscape architects, 
10 landscape designers, 4 registered architects, 
10 project architect designers, 9 LEED Accredited 
Professionals, and 2 administrative employees. TSW 
is registered with SAM and has never been debarred 
or suspended pursuant to 2CFP Part 180.

TSW Contact Information
Adam Williamson, Principal
1447 Peachtree Street NE, Suite 850, 
Atlanta, GA 30309
Main: 404.873.6730 / Direct: 470.751.2366
Email: awilliamson@tsw-design.com
Web: www.tsw-design.com

KB Advisory Group
KB Advisory Group (formerly Bleakly Advisory Group, 
Inc.), an Atlanta-based real estate and economic 
development advisory services firm, provides sought-
after advice for public and private sector clients. 
Since 2001, KB Advisory Group (KB) has completed 
over 500 assignments encompassing real estate 
market and financial feasibility analysis, economic 
impact analysis, public-private partnership creation, 
and economic development consulting. The staff 
includes urban planners, housing and real estate 
market analysts, and economic and community 
development specialists. The firm assists a broad 
range of clients with creating and implementing real 
estate and economic development strategies. The 
firm serves clients in Georgia and throughout the 
Southeast. KB offers practical and insightful analysis 
of complex real estate and economic development-
related matters and is known for answering tough real 
estate development industry questions. They often 
deal with developing, redeveloping, or repositioning 
significant real estate assets. 

KB has provided implementation strategies for 
dozens of urban and regional planning efforts. KB 
partners with TSW regularly, working on economic 
development elements for similar assignments in 
cities and counties throughout the state, identifying 
market opportunities, and determining the feasibility 
of mixed-use downtown development plans. KB 
and TSW have collaborated successfully on 7 
Comprehensive Plans since 2018 and completed 5 
Downtown Livable Centers Initiative (LCI) Master Plans 
in the past five years. 

KB Advisory Group Contact Information
Geoff Koski, President / Owner
1447 Peachtree Street NE, Suite 610
Atlanta, GA 30309
Main: 404.845.3550 x1
E: geoff@kbagroup.com
Web: www.kbagroup.com



TSW Team  |  City of Dawsonville Comprehensive Downtown Strategic Plan 2

SECTION 2: 

Technical Approach
Project Understanding
To help develop a Comprehensive Downtown Strategic Plan for Dawsonville, it is important for our team to 
understand the area’s history, analyze current conditions, and most importantly, chart a future that allows 
the area to realize its full potential. Based on our current understanding of the downtown area, we believe 
that this process will allow the City to address several important questions, including:
 � How do we attract and retain businesses, residents, and visitors?
 � How do we build on recreational and cultural tourism in the area?
 � How do we plan for the new, mixed-use town center that will connect physically and visually to the 

existing historic downtown area?
 � How do we prioritize pedestrian infrastructure to ensure safe, convenient connectivity throughout the 

downtown area?
 � How can we ensure that land use policies and zoning regulations are aligned for quality growth?
 � How do we build on and expand park, open space, and recreational amenities?
 � How do we ensure that the uniqueness and authenticity of Dawsonville is maintained?

We are confident that with strong leadership and engaged citizens, TSW and KB Advisory Group can help 
answer these questions and others through an open, honest, and transparent public conversation about the 
future of Dawsonville - one that balances current forces of change in the community with long-term values.

Overall Methodology
The TSW Team has developed a base approach for this effort that offers flexibility with the project budget 
while accomplishing many of the goals set forth in the RFP. In addition to our base approach below, we have 
also included a menu of optional services that will enhance the planning process but can be refined based 
on available funding.  

Phase 1: Initiate + Understand
1.1: Initial consultation session and site visit with City staff to finalize: study area boundary; available data 
resources; detailed schedule for meetings, review periods, and deliverables; community engagement 
strategies, activities, and dates (City will be responsible for providing meeting spaces and outreach efforts 
not contained herein); and roles and responsibilities.

1.2: Collect available data from local, regional, state, and private resources as determined in the Initial 
Consultation Session. Note: City of Dawsonville to provide available GIS data.

1.3: Conduct an assessment of any existing codes and planning studies to understand and build on the 
work already accomplished and avoid duplication of efforts.

1.4: Prepare land use and zoning analysis
 � Identify existing land use patterns
 � Identify vacant and underutilized buildings and land, including infill development opportunities
 � Examine future land use policies

1.5: Prepare real estate marketing analysis focusing on supply and demand, including:
 � Define the market area and its surroundings
 � Review overall development patterns in the downtown and surrounding market area
 � Evaluate key sites for development potential
 � Assess critical assets in the area - education, cultural diversity, tourism, government facilities



3TSW Team  |  City of Dawsonville Comprehensive Downtown Strategic Plan

SECTION 2: TECHNICAL APPROACH

 � Evaluate traffic patterns on key roadways that may impact real estate demand
 � Assess key factors that impact real estate demand - population and household growth, age and 

generational profiles, market segmentation analysis of household characteristics, employment and 
income characteristics of the region and local area, housing retail spending patterns and future 
potential, daytime population and commuting patterns, and tourism trends

 � Analyze residential demand and suggest potential future demand for for-sale and for-rent residential
 � Analyze non-residential demand and suggest potential future demand for retail, office, and hospitality

• Provide analysis and recommendations for the creation of any new zone, district, or changes to the 
boundaries of existing districts to facilitate proper plan implementation (for example a redevelopment 
district, CID or rural zone).

1.6: Prepare transportation analysis  
 � Review transportation plans and available traffic data
 � Assess existing street network connectivity and circulation
 � Inventory and assess pedestrian and bicycle facilities, including ADA facilities
 � Inventory and assess parking supply

Phase 2: Engage + Discover
2.1: Conduct Public Kick-off Meeting to introduce the Downtown Strategic Plan process and gather 
feedback. Potential meeting activities may include:
 � Presentation of existing conditions and analyses
 � Develop community visioning goals
 � Interactive session wit a Visual Preference Session (VPS)

2.2: Conduct Community Design Workshop that focuses on the entire downtown area and the new town 
center. Working as a whole group for some activities and in specified teams for others, TSW will lead groups 
and activities that focusing on sustainability, connectivity, land use patterns, retail and housing options, 
development identity, architectural character and scale, historical sensitivity, public open spaces, and key 
building placement.

2.3: Conduct Final Plan Open House focusing on presenting recommendations and implementation plan 
to the community for review and comments. Participants will have the opportunity to submit feedback 
anonymously or talk one-on-one to TSW Team members. We envision the Open House as a fun community 
experience for participants.

Phase 3: Guide the Future
3.1: Develop a draft Community Transformation Strategy that includes goals and ideas developed during 
Phase 2: Engage + Discover and that is supported with project recommendations, policy recommendations, 
visioning graphics, site plans, street sections, etc. Key deliverables will include, but not be limited to:
 � Land use and zoning strategies addressing desired development character (height, density, etc.)
 � Detailed planning for the new town center area, including regulatory recommendations, visioning 

graphics (see Task 3.2)
 � Detailed planning for two (2) catalytic sites in the downtown area, including regulatory 

recommendations, visioning graphics (see Task 3.2)
 � Appropriate recommended mix of commercial, residential, hospitality, entertainment, events, and 

mixed-use development
 � Physical and financial analyses of new town center area and catalytic sites
 � Placemaking strategies focusing on beautification, urban design, and historic preservation
 � Transportation strategies addressing traffic calming, pedestrian and bicycle infrastructure, and parking
 � Quality of Life strategies addressing public spaces, public art, wayfinding, cultural/historic amenities, 

and sustainability



4TSW Team  |  City of Dawsonville Comprehensive Downtown Strategic Plan

SECTION 2: TECHNICAL APPROACH

3.2: Develop additional visioning graphics, maps, and narrative as needed to support the 
recommendations, including, but not limited to: streetscape sections, plan renderings, photo imagery, and 
phasing of potential improvements.

3.3 Develop 3D modeling/perspectives that communicates the overall vision of the Community 
Transformation Strategy and focus on key areas/catalytic sites (up to three (3) computer-generated 
perspective renderings).

3.4: Develop implementation plan that describes the organizational structure and processes that will 
be used to help ensure that recommendations are implemented. The team will focus on collaboration 
opportunities with other organizations, strategies to ensure continued support from local elected officials, 
citizens, and businesses, and recommendations for property acquisition and/or easements to facilitate plan 
implementation. As part of the implementation plan, KB Advisory Group will assess the Dawsonville economic 
development toolkit and propose a plan to use the toolkit for implementation, identify the steps needed to 
ensure that the optimal slate of economic development incentives is in place for each key catalyst site, and 
assess the feasibility of initiating new or updating current economic enhancement programs.

3.5: Develop action plan that will include policy and project recommendations developed during 
the process that detail timeframe, phasing, cost estimates, responsible parties, funding sources, and 
partnership opportunities. 

3.6: Finalize Community Transformation Strategy based on feedback from City staff and public meetings.

3.7: Develop design guidelines (document approximately 5-10 pages) that focus on the new town center 
area that may include, but not be limited to: commercial buildings (typology, architectural styles, design 
principles), residential buildings (typology, architectural styles, design principles), public spaces (materials, 
street lighting, street furniture, landscaping), and sustainability and green infrastructure. 

3.8: Develop the Town Center Master Plan and Downtown Strategic Plan document that compiles all the 
relevant findings and recommendations from the planning process and engagement activities that focus 
on the new town center area and downtown into a document. The team will provide one (1) printed copy 
of the plan document, along with electronic files on CD (original format and PDF, Excel spreadsheets, GIS 
shapefiles, and supporting graphics). 



5TSW Team  |  City of Dawsonville Comprehensive Downtown Strategic Plan

SECTION 2: TECHNICAL APPROACH

Estimated Schedule
Based on previous experience with similar projects, we are estimating a 7-month process for the base 
approach and assume an additional 2 months if all of the optional services are included. If selected, a 
more detailed schedule will be developed that includes review periods, deliverable dates, and community 
engagement components and dates.

                           month   1 2 3 4 5 6 7

1: Initiate + 
Understand

2: Engage + 
Explore

3: Guide the 
Future



TSW Team  |  City of Dawsonville Comprehensive Downtown Strategic Plan 6

SECTION 3: 

TSW Similar Experience
Recent TSW Project Experience Overview
TSW focuses on designing sustainable, healthy, and vibrant communities through a public engagement 
process that involves educating, listening, envisioning, and testing. TSW works closely with municipalities, 
private developers, and non-profit organizations to develop downtowns, activity centers, and corridor 
plans that protect historic resources, encourage compatible infill development, complement surrounding 
neighborhoods, and are community-supported, while focusing on market conditions and transportation 
impacts. Our experience means we are familiar with the breadth of issues important to communities and 
understand the tools available to make them more livable places. Below are relevant Georgia downtown 
master planning efforts and reference information.

City of Duluth Downtown Master Plan + Implementation
James Riker, City Manager
Phone: 770.225.8827
Email: jriker@duluthga.net

Master Plan for Duluth’s downtown core to establish a vision for 
the future of the area. As part of implementation efforts, TSW 
developed streetscape design and construction documentation 
for two phases of Main Street and design and construction 
documents for Parsons Alley, a catalytic project. Downtown Master 
Plan was completed in 2013 and implementation efforts in 2016. 

Project Fees: $42,700 Master Plan (on budget) / $225,000 
implementation projects

Recognition: 2017 CNU Charter Award, 2017 ULI (Atlanta Chapter) 
Development of Excellence

Master Plan link: https://tinyurl.com/y35bsman

City of Austell Downtown LCI Study
Darrell Weaver, Economic Development Director
Phone: 770.944.4312 
Email: darrell@austellga.gov

Recommendations focus on a variety of housing choices, 
business recruitment and job creation, new public spaces, 
placemaking enhancements, and connectivity and accessibility. 
Completed in 2021.

Project Fees: $150,000 LCI Study (on budget) 

LCI link: https://tswshare-my.sharepoint.com/:f:/g/personal/
rcalvert_tsw-design_com/Eh4p-8bKHCdMnbBuMSHqslUB-gk-
39OusElqR-5kJeL0AiQ?e=IO3ebl

Design Standards link: https://tinyurl.com/38j7pvnh



7TSW Team  |  City of Dawsonville Comprehensive Downtown Strategic Plan

SECTION 3: TSW SIMILAR EXPERIENCE

City of Kingsport Downtown Master Plan
Nathan Woods (formerly with the City of Kingsport)
Phone: 423.220.0098
Email: nathan.woods@tn.gov

Master planning effort to develop a vision to reinforce and 
magnify Kingsport’s downtown role as the economic and cultural 
heart of the community and  facilitate the direction, type, location, 
and scale of new development and associated downtown 
improvements for the next 10 years. Completed in 2018.

Project Fees: $89,910 (on budget) 

Recognition: 2019 APA Small Town & Rural Planning Division Award

Master Plan link: https://tswshare-my.sharepoint.com/:f:/g/
personal/rcalvert_tsw-design_com/Esm-g5fStVpIgRboPUOZyDM
BhisI6U42flre9aaFjhhDAA?e=CCsbAt

Powder Springs LCI Plan Update + Implementation
Pam Conner, City Manager
Phone: 770.943.1666
Email: pconner@cityofpowdersprings.org

Downtown master planning effort focusing on leveraging the 
city's unique history, attracting appropriate development, and 
exploring walking, biking, and traffic improvements. TSW led 
the Town Green catalyst project and the renovations of several 
historic buildings that were completed in 2020.

Project Fees: $100,000 LCI (on budget) 

Recognition: 2019 GPA Outstanding Plan Implementation, 2020 
ARC Development of Excellence

LCI link: https://tinyurl.com/3snfrk3r

City of Douglasville Downtown Master Plan + 
Implementation
Marcus Thompson, City Engineer
Phone: 770.920.3000
Email: thompsonm@douglasvillega.gov

Downtown Master Plan & 10-Year Strategic Plan to guide 
development activities and improvements. Implementation 
has included the Downtown Greenspace (currently under 
construction) and several mixed-use buildings. Completed in 2017.

Project Fees: $67,500 Master Plan (on budget) / $434,265 Town 
Green (on budget)

Master Plan link: https://tinyurl.com/9666ea5b



TSW Team  |  City of Dawsonville Comprehensive Downtown Strategic Plan 8

SECTION 4: 

Key Personnel

TSW TEAM PROJECT MANAGEMENT:     

Principal-in-Charge: Adam Williamson
Project Manager: Beverly Bell

PLANNING

Adam Williamson
Beverly Bell
Alanna Fairburn
David Argo
+ TSW Support Staff

TSW Team Organizational Chart

MARKET ANALYSIS

Geoff Koski
Tate Davis
+ KB Support Staff

FINAL 
DELIVERABLES

Beverly Bell
Adam Williamson
Alanna Fairburn
+ TSW Support Staff

COMMUNITY 
ENGAGEMENT

Beverly Bell
Adam Williamson
Alanna Fairburn
David Argo
Geoff Koski
Tate Davis
+ TSW Support Staff

Adam Williamson, AICP, PLA, LEED AP

Firm: TSW
Role: Principal-in-Charge / Lead 
Planner
Education: Bachelor of Landscape 

Architecture, University of Georgia
Representatives Projects:
 � City of Duluth Downtown Master Plan, Main Street 

Streetscapes, and Parsons Alley: Duluth, GA
 � City of Douglasville Downtown Master Plan & 10-

Year Strategic Plan: Douglasville, GA
 � City of Clarksville Downtown Parking & Street 

Network Study: Clarksville, TN
 � Augusta Sustainable Development 

Implementation Program: Augusta, GA
 � City of Tucker Downtown Master Plan: Tucker, GA
 � City of Austell Downtown Livable Centers 

Initiative Study: Austell, GA
 � City of Kingsport Downtown Master Plan: 

Kingsport, TN
 � Woodstock Downtown: Woodstock, GA
 � Argenta District Downtown Master Plan: North 

Little Rock, AR

Beverly Bell
Firm: TSW
Role: Project Manager / Planner
Education: Master of Landscape 
Architecture, University of Georgia; 

BS Sustainable Development, Appalachian State 
University
Representatives Projects:
 � Town Center CID Creative Placemaking Plan: 

Cobb County, GA
 � The Porch Public Space Plan: Chattanooga, TN
 � Peachtree Corners Town Green: Peachtree 

Corners, GA 
 � East Kenosha Corridor Study: Broken Arrow, OK
 � Hall County Forward Comprehensive Plan: Hall 

County, GA
 � Lookout Mountain Conservancy Long-Range 

Plan: Lookout Mountain, TN
 � City of Stockbridge Parks System Master Plan: 

Stockbridge, GA
 � Gulf Shores Downtown Waterfront Park & Civic 

Plaza: Gulf Shores, AL



9TSW Team  |  City of Dawsonville Comprehensive Downtown Strategic Plan

SECTION 4: KEY PERSONNEL

Alanna Fairburn
Firm: TSW
Role: Planner + Designer
Education: Bachelor of Industrial 
Design, Auburn University

Representatives Projects:
 � City of Albany Downtown Master Plan: Albany, GA
 � City of Austell Downtown Livable Centers 

Initiative Study and Design Standards: Austell, GA
 � City of Statesboro Downtown Master Plan: 

Statesboro, GA
 � Destination: 2030 - Strategic Plan, 

Comprehensive Plan, and LCI Update: Decatur, 
GA

 � Atlanta Housing Bowen Choice Neighborhood 
Plan: Atlanta, GA

 � Cherokee County Parks and Trails Area Plan: 
Cherokee County, GA

 � Chason Park Expansion Plan: Bainbridge, GA
 � City of Newnan Design Guidelines: Newnan, GA
 � Town Center CID Creative Placemaking Plan: 

Cobb County, GA

David Argo
Firm: TSW
Role: Landscape Designer
Education: Bachelor of Landscape 
Architecture, University of Georgia

Representatives Projects:
 � City of Austell Downtown Livable Centers 

Initiative Study and Design Standards: Austell, GA
 � City of Kingsport Downtown Master Plan: 

Kingsport, TN
 � City of Jonesboro Broad Street Implementation 

Project: Jonesboro, GA
 � City of Douglasville Downtown Master Plan & 10-

Year Strategic Plan: Douglasville, GA
 � City of Douglasville Downtown Greenspace: 

Douglasville, GA
 � Midtown Alliance 5th Street Complete Street 

Project: Atlanta, GA
 � Midtown Alliance Juniper Street Streetscape: 

Atlanta, GA
 � Pace Street Corridor: Covington, GA
 � Evans Town Center : Evans, GA
 � Fairfield County Interchanges Conceptual 

Master Plan: Fairfield County, SC
 � Downtown Chamblee Town Center Code & 

Pattern Book: Chamblee, GA

Geoff Koski
Firm: KB Advisory Group
Role: Economic Analyst
Education: Master of Arts, Western 
Carolina University; BA in History & 

Political Science, Webster University
Geoff heads the 10-person real estate and 
economic development consulting team. He 
has researched, analyzed, and reported on the 
country’s real estate and community development 
trends for 20+ years. Geoff’s expertise facilitates 
clients’ wide-ranging real estate and economic 
development advisory needs. He leads many of KB’s 
comprehensive and strategic plan engagements 
for local and regional clients, assessing commercial 
real estate needs for current and future residents. 
Geoff also identifies economic development 
strategies to ensure a community’s bright future.
Representatives Projects:
 � Alpharetta South Main Livable Centers Initiative 

Study: Alpharetta, GA 
 � City of Austell Downtown Livable Centers 

Initiative Study: Austell, GA
 � Destination: 2030 - Strategic Plan, 

Comprehensive Plan, and LCI Update: Decatur, GA

Tate Davis, AICP

Firm: KB Advisory Group
Role: Economic Analyst
Education: Master of City and 
Regional Planning, Georgia Institute of 

Technology; BS in Biology, Oglethorpe University
Tate applies her urban planning experience 
and interest in developing healthier cities as a 
senior contributor at KB. In addition to real estate 
development work, Tate’s experience includes 
promoting balanced and responsible growth 
through policy analysis, public engagement, and 
membership input. She has also engaged with 
regulatory issues related to land use, planning, 
development, and change throughout metro Atlanta.
Representatives Projects:
 � Alpharetta South Main Livable Centers Initiative 

Study: Alpharetta, GA 
 � Gateway85 CID Economic Development 

Strategic Implementation Project: Gwinnett 
County, GA

 � Henry County TAD Redevelopment Plan: Henry 
County, GA



SECTION 5: 

Fee Proposal 
Phase 1: Initiate + Understand

1.1: Initial consultation session and site visit  $2,910 

1.2: Collect available data  $880 

1.3: Conduct an assessment of any existing codes and planning studies  $1,545 

1.4: Prepare land use and zoning analysis  $1,650 

1.5: Prepare real estate marketing analysis  $20,025 

1.6: Prepare transportation analysis   $1,760 

Phase 2: Engage + Discover
2.1: Conduct Public Kick-off Meeting  $4,320 

2.2: Conduct Community Design Workshop  $6,110 

2.3: Conduct Final Plan Open House  $3,880 

Phase 3: Guide the Future
3.1: Develop a draft Community Transformation Strategy  $14,000 

3.2: Develop additional visioning graphics, maps, and narrative  $6,000 

3.3 Develop 3D Modeling/Perspectives $2,500

3.3: Develop implementation plan  $7,000 

3.5: Develop action plan  $2,500

3.6: Finalize Community Transformation Strategy  $3,500

3.7: Develop design guidelines  $7,000

3.8: Develop the Town Center Master Plan and Downtown Strategic Plan 
Document  $7,000 

Project Management  $4,920

Base Approach Reimbursable Expenses (travel, printing, etc.)  $2,500 

Total:  $100,000

Base 
Approach

TSW's goal is to 
build a partnership 
with the City of 
Dawsonville and the 
community. We do 
not want fees to be 
a barrier preventing 
our selection as your 
planning consultant 
team. If our fee 
proposal differs 
significantly from the 
competition or what 
may be budgeted for 
this project, we would 
be pleased to discuss 
our fee proposal and 
refine our scope of 
services and specific 
tasks.



TSW Team  |  City of Dawsonville Comprehensive Downtown Strategic Plan 11

Male - Female Diversity

Male Female

Ethnic Diversity

White/Caucasian Black Asian / Pacific Islander Hispanic

APPENDIX:

Supplemental Information
Exceptions to the RFP
As noted in Section 2: Technical Approach, TSW has provided a base approach that accomplishes the 
majority of the goals set forth in the RFP and then optional services that will enhance the planning process. 
This approach allows the City to best determine the desired tasks based on available funding. 

Assurances - Equal Employment Opportunity
TSW’s Equal Employment Opportunity Action Policy Statement
It is the policy of TSW to employ and treat employees without regard to race, creed, color, sex, religion, age, 
national origin, physical or mental handicap, disability, veteran’s status, marital status, or citizenship status. 
This policy includes providing reasonable accommodation to qualified applicants and employees with 
known physical or mental disabilities. This policy has the support of the highest levels of our management 
team.

TSW Office Diversity
The following charts show the diversity of our office.

BLACK
5%ASIAN / 

PACIFIC 
ISLANDER

10%

HISPANIC
3%

MALE
46%

WHITE/
CAUCASIAN
82%

FEMALE
54%

Legal + Character Qualifications
TSW is not currently involved in any pending claims or lawsuits nor has been involved in any lawsuits with a 
governmental entity in the last five years. 



12TSW Team  |  City of Dawsonville Comprehensive Downtown Strategic Plan

APPENDIX: SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION

TSW

404.873.6730

Principal

Adam Williamson

1447 Peachtree Street NE, Suite 850, Atlanta, GA 30309

awilliamson@tsw-design.com

February 2, 2023

TSW

404.873.6730

Principal

Adam Williamson

1447 Peachtree Street NE, Suite 850, Atlanta, GA 30309

awilliamson@tsw-design.com

February 2, 2023



13TSW Team  |  City of Dawsonville Comprehensive Downtown Strategic Plan

APPENDIX: SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION



14TSW Team  |  City of Dawsonville Comprehensive Downtown Strategic Plan

APPENDIX: SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION

proof of current insurance coverage





                                           
 

 

SUBJECT: _CONSIDERATION OF VAPE LICENSE APPROVAL 
 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  04/17/2023 
 

 
 

BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #_______________________________________ 

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

PURPOSE FOR REQUEST:  
 
 
TO REQUEST APPROVAL FOR THE ISSUANCE OF A NEW VAPE LICENSE AT 75 HIGHWAY 9 NORTH. 
 
 
 

HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES 
 
THE EXISTING BUSINESS HAS CHANGED OWNERSHIP, AND ALL FEES HAVE BEEN PAID. 
 
VAPE LICENSE TO BE APPROVED 
 

1. SIF INVESTMENT LLC dba NEIGHBORHOOD CONVENIENCE STORE - ANNUAL LICENSE AND 2 
DEVICES. 

 
 
 
 

OPTIONS: 
 
 
________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
Approve, Deny or Postpone. 
 
 
 
 

 
     DEPARTMENT: Planning and Zoning______________________________________________________ 

 
     REQUESTED BY: Planning and Zoning, ____________________________________________________ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  
AGENDA ITEM #____13_____ 

 

 

 











                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   PRESENT PROPOSED CHANGES TO THE UTILITIES  ORDINANCE 
 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  04/17/2023   
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

     TO PRESENT PROPOSED CHANGES TO THE UTILITY ORDINANCE AND DIRECT CITY 
ATTORNEY TO DEVELOP AN ORDINANCE AMENDMENT  

    
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

• RECOMMENDED CHANGES ATTACHED 
• THE CHANGES REPRESENT SOME ONGOING ISSUES THE DEPARTMENT IS HAVING 

TO INCUR MOSTLY RELATED TO GARBAGE; AS WELL AS, BETTER CUSTOMER 
SERVICE IN THE AREA OF BILLING AND FEES 

• CITY MANAGER AND UTILITIES DIRECTOR APPROVE OF THESE RECOMMENDED 
CHANGES 

• CITY ATTORNEY SUGGESTS DEVELOPING AN ORDINANCE AMENDMENT WHICH 
PROVIDES FOR “ADMINISTRATIVE FEES RELATED TO THE TERMINATION, 
SUSPENSION, RE-ESTABLISHMENT OF SERVICE AND SIMILAR SUCH MATTERS” 
THEY WILL BE SUBJECT TO REVIEW AND SET BY CITY COUNCIL WITH THE CITY 
MANAGERS APPROVAL.  THIS WILL ALLOW US TO HAVE A STANDARD DOCUMENT 
THAT CAN GET REVISED AS NEEDED 

   
 

     OPTIONS: 
    
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
      
     APPROVE AS RECOMMENDED   
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY:        Beverly A. Banister, City Clerk 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   14     
 

 

 



                                     

 

PROPOSED CHANGES TO UTILITY ORDINANCE 
 

• Returned E-check fee for accounts not found should not be the same as a typical 
returned check fee.  These are a result of residents entering their ABA# and/or 
Acct # incorrectly and occurs through our third-party online payment services 
which we have no access to in terms of being able to check the information they 
input.  We feel a fair price would be $15.00 for this vs. the typical $35 returned 
check fee. 
 

• Residents who terminate their account and leave with the garbage can: $65.00 per 
can. 
 

• Residents who terminate their account and leave an excess amount of garbage 
that our service will not pick up.  This has ranged from a few bags to having to 
get the dump truck to remove the trash.  We are taking into consideration our 
utility workers’ time as well and suggesting a rate of up to $50.  This one is hard 
to pinpoint an exact fee because each situation can be so different.  I do believe 
in most cases; we have charged. 
 

• “Disconnection” fee for garbage customers.  We have a solid base of residents 
who are not on W/S but have trash only and there are quite a few people who lose 
their privileges for non-payment.  The guys are directed to pick up their can, the 
trash company is notified to stop service at their location and then once the 
customer pays their outstanding balance, we have to redeliver the can and Red 
Oak has to be notified to place them back on the service roster.   
 

• Prorate w/s charges for residents who move in or out of a property within 7 days 
of the meter reading date.  Example of this would be, we bill Customer X for their 
monthly charge based on the reading obtained on the 15th which would include 
the minimum charges for w/s plus usage and then Customer X submits a form to 
terminate their account on the 20th.  This in turn would generate another bill with 
a minimum charge plus usage (if any) for just five days of service.  On the other 
side, Customer Y starts their service on the 13th of the month; we read meters on 
the 15th and Customer Y is billed a minimum charge for only 2 days of service.  We 
recognize the City is within their rights to collect on either end since the minimum 
charges are for 0-1500 gallons, however, it does create a lot of complaints and 
phone calls.  At least prorating their charges would help eliminate some of the 
complaints.   
 

• Removal/Adjustment of fees can be approved by Jacob or Bob.  This would be 
fees related to late charges, lock off fees, reconnection fees, etc.  

 

CITY OF DAWSONVILLE 
CITY CLERK’S OFFICE 
415 Hwy 53 E • Suite 100 
Dawsonville, GA 30534 

beverly.banister@dawsonville-ga.gov 
(706) 265-3256 

mailto:beverly.banister@dawsonville-ga.gov


                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   PRESENT PROPOSED CHANGES TO THE ANIMAL CONTROL ORDINANCE 
 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  04/17/2023   
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

    
  TO PRESENT PROPOSED CHANGES TO THE ANIMAL CONTROL ORDINANCE AND DIRECT 

CITY ATTORNEY TO DEVELOP AN ORDINANCE AMENDMENT 
    
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 
** SEE ATTACHED REDLINE DOCUMENT   
 
CHANGES REFLECT SOME CLEANUP IN THE OVERALL ORDINANCE AND INCLUDE   

ADDITIONS REGARDING CLARIFICATION OF LEASH LAWS  
 
   
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
   
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Trampas Hansard, Public Works Director 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   15     
 

 

 







                                           
 

 

      
SUBJECT: _______REVIEW COMMUNITY SERVICE PROGRAM___________________________     _ 

 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:        04/17/2023         _   ________       
  

 
 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #______N/A_________________________________ 

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST:  
 
To report on Community Service Work Program sponsored by the City of Dawsonville, the Dawson County 
Sheriff’s Office, and the Juvenile Court System. 
 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES 
 
One of our two deputies assigned to the city, Jacob Champion, after dealing with numerous juvenile complaints 
at city parks, the Farmer’s Market, and elsewhere approached the Juvenile Judge Court System about offering 
a Community Service Work Program. The Juvenile Court System enthusiastically joined this effort as did 
Sheriff Johnson. City Attorney Kevin Tallant developed a waiver that the parents must sign that was approved 
by all parties. The Juvenile Court System even offered personnel to assist with supervision of those in the 
program. The program already has three juveniles assigned to the program due to their vandalism of the water 
fountains at the Farmer’s Market. Dawson County deputies assigned to the city will supervise the workers. 
Public Works and/or Utilities will assign projects and have in supplies and materials needed ready for use. A 
variety of projects might be included, such as scrubbing away graffiti, pulling weeds, picking up trash, cleaning 
rest rooms, etc. The goal of the program is to deter juvenile petty crime and vandalism. As Officer Champion 
described the mission of the program, “I want this to be an opportunity to build community relations with our 
juveniles within the city and the county.” 
 
 
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
No motion or vote needed. 
 
 

 
     DEPARTMENT:  ____Administration, Finance, Public Works & Utilities____________________________  

 
     REQUESTED BY: ___City Manager Bob Bolz_________________________________________________ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM # 16 
 

 

 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   PRESENT DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY FUNDING REQUEST FOR 

FY2024 
 

     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  04/17/2023   
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

    
TO PRESENT AND DISCUSS FUNDING REQUEST FOR THE DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT 

AUTHORITY’S FY 2024 BUDGET 
 
    
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

• CURRENT FY 2023 DDA BUDGET IS ATTACHED 
 

• DDA BOARD REQUESTS FUNDING FOR ADDITIONAL LINE ITEMS LIKE ADVERTISING, 
EVENTS AND BEAUTIFICATION PROJECTS WHILE MAINTAINING THEIR FUNDING FOR 
LEGAL, ACCOUNTING, EDUCATION & TRAINING AND THE GRANT 

 
 

   
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
   
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: William Illg, Councilmember Post #2 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   17     
 

 

 



Current FY 2023 DDA Budget



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:                       STAFF REPORT: CITY MANAGER    

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  04/17/2023    
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #  NA      

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 
     TO PROVIDE PROJECT UPDATES  

 
 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

 
    SEE ATTACHED OUTLINE  
     
 
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
      
      
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY:  Bob Bolz, City Manager    

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #     18     
 

 

 



CITY MANAGER REPORT 

 PREPARED April 11, 2023, FOR April 17, 2023, AGENDA 

Comprehensive Plan: Thus far we have had two very successful Comprehensive Plan Meetings. At the first 
meeting, February 9th, we had 16 of 25 invitees present and at the second meeting, March 9th, we had 14 of 25 in 
attendance. The information is great. Our next meetings are on April 13th and May 11th, we hope you can join us.  
 
Personnel Vacancies: We continue to advertise for two vacant positions, the Planning and Zoning Director position 
as well as one Treatment Plant Operator position. 
 
Distillery Update: The required engineered drawing of the kitchen space including the fire suppression system is 
underway at a cost of $12,500.00. The rest room construction project within the distillery is underway. We anticipate 
having a contract with the distillery in the next few days. We continue to have an interest in the restaurant space. 
With direction from the City Council, we are meeting with potential providers while we await the final engineered 
drawings for the kitchen. 
 
Georgia Racing Hall OF Fame: The Museum Director and our Public Works Director are researching improvements 
to the museum front, removal of old, leaking doors and windows to be replaced with showroom doors to enable staff 
to bring cars in and out with a new canopy. We are awaiting the Museum Director to provide bids for the special door 
considerations to allow vehicles to be moved in and out. We have been waiting since May 2022 for engineered 
drawings of the desired pavilion over the Winner’s Circle. We hope to have those for review by the City 
Council/Mayor soon. The Winners Circle concrete pad was replaced after it was damaged by subfreezing 
temperatures. 

Deputy Program with Sheriff’s Office: Our officer, Jacob Champion, has taken the initiative to develop a 
community service program along with restitution for various juvenile incidents of vandalism and property destruction. 
The county has approved the waiver that the parents of juveniles mandated to this program have to complete. The 
first community service workday is scheduled for April 29th as three youths have already been sentenced to the 
program.  

Dawson County Hazard Mitigation Task Force: Last updated in 2018 with city participation, both the City Manager 
and the Public Works Director are serving on this working group as the revise the plan for 2023. 
 
DCA Certified Local Government: PZ Staff finalized and have submitted the grant request that would cover the 
cost of the required survey needed to regain our Certified Local Government status.  
 
Radio Repeaters for Water Meter & SCADA Upgrades: The project is ending as the last repeaters are being 
installed for optimum radio signal capability. Most will never even be seen. However, one was installed in Main Street 
Park just off Allen Street behind the fence that is drawing some questions. These repeaters are needed for the 
provision of our best customer service. 
 
Governor’s Office of Planning & Budget Grant for Water System Infrastructure due to Population Increase: 
No news on the grant we applied for offered by the Governor’s Office of OPB that can be awarded to municipalities 
experiencing significant population increases. The grant request totaled $1,154,720.00 and would be used to cover 
the cost of drilling and setting up operation of the new well. The grant requires a 75-25 match; so, our portion would 
be $285,000.00. We have already budgeted in our Enterprise Fund for the total amount. If awarded, this could 
represent a savings of up to $896,220.00. The plans and design for the well are complete and under review by GBT. 
 



Impact Fees Study: We await the fee recommendations from GMRC’s Adam Hazell. 

Downtown Strategic Plan: We have a recommendation for awarding the RFP to present at the April 17th meeting. 

Wastewater Treatment Plant: We await comments from EPD and the USDA with regards to the package 
Turnipseed Engineering submitted for their permitting process and funding consideration.  
 
GMRC Meetings: We were pleased to host the Executive Committee of GMRC meeting in March. On May 17th, we 
will host the GMRC City County Managers Meeting in the Joe Lane Cox Room. 
 
GDOT Improvements to Downtown Roundabout: GDOT have advertised the project to restripe the crosswalks 
around the courthouse square.  When a contractor is selected and an NTP issued, they will notify us. 

Wellness Program: The City Manager and Finance Director met with a representative from GMA regarding wellness 
program opportunities and we have a meeting next week with a representative from our health insurance company 
as we work to implement a program for our outstanding personnel. 
 
Main Street Park Projects: 
 

• Land and Water Conservation Fund: Staff are working with CEC to develop a Land and Water 
Conservation Fund grant that could be applied to the park. By law it must go toward outdoor recreation. It 
cannot go toward roads and infrastructure to get to a new park. We have several areas in the existing park 
that could benefit from LWCF that could cover the cost of a bathroom for the court and skate park area and 
a splash pad. If awarded, it would be a 50-50 match. We will continue research and let you know as more 
information becomes available. 
 

• Playground: The very popular zip line needs some repairs/updates, we are awaiting delivery for a new unit 
as the old unit is obsolete. The new zip wire will cost the city $8,000.00+ after a 50% discount. The mini 
merry-go-round is out of service as well, and we are awaiting parts. Both pieces of equipment were 
damaged by adults using it despite our efforts to prevent such use. The wheelchair swing was vandalized, 
and repairs are underway. 
 

• Disc Golf: The course continues in popularity with popular league events every Thursday night. We are 
evaluating additions to this course at the present time. 
 

• Basketball Court & Pickleball Courts:  Bids for the grading portion of this project are to be opened 
December 6th with bids for just the grading, not court construction, ranging from $134,250.00 to 
$186,370.00. These bids were rejected, and the project is being rebid in April with a May deadline. 

 
• Shade: Staff continue researching shade for various locations in the park.  

 
• Skate Park Expansion: Staff are estimating the cost for expansion of this amenity. 

  
• Small Bathroom between Shelter #3 and Skate Park/Court Area: We are working identify a modular rest 

room that can be set on site after grading and hooked up to utilities.  
 

• Stage: Staff are researching the purchase of a hydraulic, mobile stage, like what we used at the tree lighting 
event. Since it is portable it can be set up and taken down in a few hours. This idea is opposed to an 
amphitheater. Our concerns for an amphitheater include cost, additionally facility would sit outside, weather, 
and possibly get vandalized. As we develop more research, we will present pros, cons, and 



recommendations soon.  
 

• Dog Park: Eagle Scout candidate Palmer Hartley has finished his project complete with obstacles for the 
dogs, signage, and an entry way. The sidewalk is complete and landscape work will start as soon as the 
ground dries out.  

 
• Bridge & Trail to Library: Staff will begin construction in the third week in April on this project, weather 

permitting. 
 

• Geocaching Site: Geocaching is a sport that is growing in popularity. There has existed a cache at the 
GRHOF for years. We have been approached by a volunteer geocaching enthusiast that wants to install and 
will maintain three sites, one in Main Street Park, one at the Dog Park, and one at Wallace Park. Staff have 
met with her, and we are awaiting her official proposal. 
 

• Splash Pad: Research into the possibility of adding this amenity is underway. 
 
Downtown Update:  
 

• Strategic Planning: Foundation of all Downtown Activities: 

a. Follow-up interviews were held for the top three candidates and a recommendation will be 
presented at the April 17th meeting. 

b. Staff are creating a tentative project management framework and assembling project background 
research, recommendations, to begin working with consultant ASAP. It will include a robust public 
participation plan to support the plan process; many downtown businesses have agreed to 
maintain idea logs to document public interest; building relationships and assembling contact lists 
for this process.  

c. Managing ARC Grant:  Preparing Interim Progress Report for required submission. 

• DDA Business Co-op Advertisement Program: 

Created a “Downtown Dawsonville” website. DDA agreed to fund purchase URL/Domain names: 
Dawsonville Downtown .org, .gov, .com 

• Created a co-op of business owners to advertise on HWY 53 billboard. DDA agreed to participate in 
funding this effort. 

Created a “Business Welcome Packet” for new/potential businesses, including information on access to 
business assistance, grants and other resources. 

• Creating Demographic and Market Data reports and infographics to make available on City website 
Downtown Development page for potential businesses. 

 
Leak Adjustments:  There were no Leak Adjustment this month. 

Calendar YTD     $1,978.55 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:                       STAFF REPORT: FINANCE ADMINISTRATOR    

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  04/17/2023      
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #  NA      

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 
     TO PRESENT FUND BALANCE AND ACTIVITY THROUGH MARCH 31, 2023 

 
 

 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

 
    SEE ATTACHED FINANCIAL REPORTS  
     
 
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
      
      
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY:  Robin Gazaway, Finance Administrator    

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #  19   
 

 

 



CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA
GENERAL FUND

July 1, 2022 - March 31, 2023

75%

Budget Actual Percentage
REVENUES
      Taxes 2,163,050$       1,931,454$       89.29%
      Licenses and permits 91,900              81,187              88.34%
      Intergovernmental revenues 6,000                -                   0.00%
      Fees 256,975            118,718            46.20%
      Other 796,326            157,299            19.75%

               Total revenues 3,314,251         2,288,658         69.06%

EXPENDITURES
   Department:
      Council 134,400            99,287              73.87%
      Mayor 22,860              12,228              53.49%
      Elections 15,000              -                   0.00%
      Administration 1,769,862         1,285,150         72.61%
      City Hall building 163,694            135,447            82.74%
      Animal control 1,536                100                   6.51%
      Roads 584,363            516,955            88.46%
      Parks 65,528              98,114              149.73%
      Planning and zoning 440,008            354,479            80.56%
      Economic development 117,000            9,000                7.69%

 
               Total expenditures 3,314,251         2,510,760         75.76%

TOTAL REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES (222,102)          

      Transfer in From Reserves 222,102            

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE -                   



CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA
WATER, SEWER, AND GARBAGE FUND

July 1, 2022 - March 31, 2023

 
Budget Actual Percentage

REVENUES
       Water fees 800,000$        633,579$        79.20%
       Sewer fees 900,000          744,721          82.75%
       Garbage fees 230,200          203,845          88.55%
       Miscellaneous 357,683          255,413          71.41%

               
               Total revenues 2,287,883       1,837,558       80.32%

EXPENDITURES
        Depreciation 574,000          485,286          84.54%
        Garbage service 230,200          193,438          84.03%
        Group insurance 164,000          133,634          81.48%
        Insurance -                  455                 #DIV/0!
        Interest 87,450            55,012            62.91%
        Payroll taxes 31,000            21,406            69.05%
        Professional 193,000          298,705          154.77%
        Miscellaneous 149,311          90,754            60.78%
        Repairs/supplies 229,000          201,161          87.84%
        Retirement 24,000            19,014            79.23%
        Salaries 355,672          286,170          80.46%
        Technical services 77,000            72,463            94.11%
        Utilities 173,250          119,063          68.72%

               Total expenditures 2,287,883       1,976,561       86.39%

INCOME (LOSS) (139,003)         



CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA
SPLOST VI

July 1, 2022 - March 31, 2023

SPLOST VI
Budget Actual Percentage

REVENUES
       Taxes -                   -                   #DIV/0!
       Interest 100                   1,256                1256.00%
       Other 42,900              -                   0.00%

               Total revenues 43,000              1,256                2.92%

EXPENDITURES (Capital Outlays)
       City hall acquisition -                   -                   #DIV/0!
       Roads and sidewalks -                   #DIV/0!
       Public works equipment - roads -                   76,721              0.00%
       Sewer projects -                   -                   0.00%
       Public works equipment - sewer 34,000              -                   0.00%
       Water projects -                   -                   0.00%
       Public works equipment - water -                   -                   0.00%
       Farmers market 9,000                6,750                75.00%
       Parks and recreation -                   -                   0.00%

               Total expenditures 43,000              83,471              194.12%

TOTAL REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES (82,215)            

      Transfer in From Reserves 82,215              
 

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE -                   



CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA
SPLOST VII

July 1, 2022 - March 31, 2023

SPLOST VII
Budget Actual Percentage

REVENUES
       Taxes 1,599,900         919,079            57.45%
       Interest 100                   15,643              15643.00%
       Other -                   -                   0.00%

               Total revenues 1,600,000         934,722            58.42%

EXPENDITURES (Capital Outlays)
       City hall acquisition -                   -                   #DIV/0!
       Roads and sidewalks -                   -                   #DIV/0!
       Public works equipment - roads -                   -                   0.00%
       Land Acq. / Downtown 789,000            689,000            0.00%
       Public works equipment - sewer -                   -                   0.00%
       Water projects/Sewer Projects 677,000            -                   0.00%
       Public works equipment - water 34,000              -                   0.00%
       Farmers market -                   -                   #DIV/0!
       Parks and recreation 100,000            10,867              0.00%

               Total expenditures 1,600,000         699,867            43.74%

TOTAL REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES 234,855            

      Transfer in From Reserves (234,855)          
 

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE -                   


	1. 04.17.2023 AGENDA City Council Regular Meeting
	7. Executive Summary For Agenda Items CONSENT AGENDA
	7a. 1 Executive Summary For Agenda Items MINUTES
	7a. 2. 03.20.2023 MINUTES City Council Regular Meeting
	7b. 1. Executive Summary RESOLUTION
	7b. 2. Resolution R2023-02_Opioid Settlement Publix
	RESOLUTION R2023-02
	RESOLUTION OF CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA (“CITY”) AGREEING TO SETTLE WITH PUBLIX SUPER MARKETS, INC.  CONCERNING THE PRESCRIPTION OPIOID LITIGATION

	7c. 1. Executive Summary MOU
	7c. 2. 03-31-2023 Updated Georgia MOU - Final
	7d. 1. Executive Summary CITY OF ETHICS
	7d. 2. Resolution R2023-03_City of Ethics Recertification 2023
	7e. 1 Executive Summary For Agenda Items GMA CONVENTION
	7e. 2. GMA CONVENTION
	20230411113203692.pdf
	20230411111259333.pdf

	8. 1  Executive Summary For Agenda Items EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION
	9. 1 Executive Summary PROCLAMATIONS
	9. 2. proclamation
	10. 1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY AGENDA 03.20.2023_ZA-C2300085
	10. 2. 514 ACADEMY AVE_LALANI_PCCC CASE ANALYSIS_ZA-C2300085
	10. 3. ZAC2300085_LALANI
	11. 1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY AGENDA CU - 0322018_SEDGE WREN 4.17.2023
	11. 2. CU-0322018_REPORT
	12. 1. Executive Summary For Agenda Items STRAT PLAN AWARD
	12. 2. TSW Team_Dawsonville Downtown_Rev3.27.23
	13. 1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY AGENDA VAPE LICENSE (002)
	13. 2. VAPE LICENSE_Redacted
	14. 1. Executive Summary For Agenda Items UTILITIES ORD
	14. 2. Proposed Changes to Utilities Ord
	15. 1. Executive Summary For Agenda Items ANIMAL CONTROL ORD
	15. 2. Amendment to Domestic Animal Control Ordinance.CLIENT REVIEW
	16. 1. Executive Summary Community Service Program 04.17.2023
	17. 1. Executive Summary For Agenda Items DDA FUNDING REQ
	17. 2. FY 2023 DDA BUDGET_Redacted
	18. 1  Executive Summary For Agenda Items CITY MANAGER
	18. 2. 041723 CITY MANAGER REPORT (002)
	19. 1 Executive Summary For Agenda Items FINANCE ADMINISTRATOR
	19. 2. Financial Statements-MAR23
	GF Budget
	WS vs Budget
	SPLOST
	SPLOST VII




